RECEIVED

07-02-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I		
STATE OF WISCONSIN	Ī,	
	Plaintiff-Respon	ndent,
v.		No. 2015AP784-CR
JESUS C. GONZALEZ,	Defendant-Appe	ellant
Defendant-Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT HONORABLE RICHARD J.SANKOVITZ, PRESIDING		
	APPELLANT'S	BRIEF

TIM PROVIS Appellate Counsel Bar No. 1020123

123 East Beutel Road Port Washington, WI 53074 (414) 339-4458

> Attorney for Appellant GONZALEZ

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether basic Due Process was violated when the court below used a procedure contrary to §972.10(7), *Wis. Stats.*, to select the alternate juror which had the effect of giving the State one more peremptory challenge than Mr. Gonzalez.

Over objection, the court below selected a specific juror as the alternate after evidence was closed and noted this was the same as allowing the State an additional peremptory challenge.

2. Whether allowing juror note taking of closing arguments contrary to §972.10(1)(a)1., *Wis. Stats.*, was prejudicial error.

In its closing instructions, the court below told jurors they could take notes during closing argument. Trial counsel objected.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is not requested.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Counsel requests publication because the opinion here is likely to apply established rules of law to a factual situation significantly different from those in previous opinions and therefore will clarify those rules.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

This is a review of Mr. Gonzalez' conviction of 1st Degree Reckless Homicide and 2nd Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety and of the denial of his postconviction motion.

2. Proceedings Below

On May 13, 2010, complaint no. 10-CF-2323 was filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court charging Mr. Gonzalez with violations of §§940.01(1)(a) (1st Degree Intentional Homicide and 940.01(1)(a) & 939.32, *Wis. Stats*. (Attempted 1st Degree Intentional Homicide). (2).

On May 20, 2010, Mr. Gonzalez waived preliminary hearing and an information was filed making the same charges as in the complaint. (4)(5).

On January 25, 2011, trial counsel filed a motion to admit other acts evidence. (14).

On February 18, 2011, the State filed its motions *in limine* (15), witness list (16) and requested jury instructions. (20). On that date, defense counsel filed her motions *in limine* (18), witness list (19) and proposed jury instructions. (20).

On October 24, 2011 jury trial began with *voir dire*. (64). A jury was selected and sworn. (65:88).

On October 25, 2011, the court reported juror 24 "had

convictions on his record which did not come to the attention of the parties." (66:5). The court said, "We've decided to put this decision [on what to do about it] off." (66:6).

On October 26, 2011, the State continued presenting its evidence. (68). The State rested its case that day. (69:42). The defense motion to dismiss was denied. (69:43-45). Mr. Gonzalez waived his right to testify. (69:45-49). The defense presented its witness (69:50) and rested. (69:61).

On October 27, 2011, the court chose the alternate by hearing argument as to which of 2 jurors should be so designated and then, over objection, granting the State's motion to designated juror 24 as the alternate. (70:50-58). That afternoon, the jury came in with its verdicts, finding Mr. Gonzalez guilty of 1st Degree Reckless Homicide on Count 1 and 1st Degree Reckless Injury on Count 2. (71:13-15). The court entered judgment on the verdicts. (71:17-18).

By the time of sentencing on November 18, 2011, the parties and the court realized 1st degree reckless injury is not a lesser included offense of the attempted 1st degree intentional homicide charged in Count 2.. (72:2-8). The parties agreed the conviction on Count 2 would be vacated and Mr. Gonzalez would enter a no contest plea to 2nd Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety pursuant to a plea bargain providing the State would recommend concurrent time on that conviction. *Id*. The court accepted Mr. Gonzalez no contest plea and found him guilty of the new charge. (72:9-15).

The court sentenced Mr. Gonzalez to 20 years confinement and 5 years extended supervision on Count 1 and a concurrent sentence of 5 years confinement and 5 years extended supervision on Count 2. (72:79-82).

Notice of Intent was filed May 13, 2014 (43) and this Court retroactively extended the deadline to permit its filing. (45).

Present counsel's postconviction motion filed November 13, 2014 (46) was denied by written order filed March 31, 2015. (52).

Notice of Appeal was filed April 20, 2015. (53).

3. Facts of the Offenses

On May 9, 2011, Mr. Gonzalez made a 911 call, saying he had been assaulted and shot out the windows of a vehicle. (66:53-54). He also said he had shot someone and would wait in front of his house. (66:29 [lines 17-20]). When police arrived at his house, Mr. Gonzalez was unarmed and surrendered to them without resistance. ((66:55).

In a nearby parking lot, officers found J.C. lying down with a bullet hole in his neck. (66:18). On a sidewalk, officers found Danny John, bleeding from 2 wounds. Mr. John was later pronounced dead at Froedtert Hospital. (66:24-25).

<u>Argument</u>

I. BASIC DUE PROCESS WAS VIOLATED WHEN THE COURT BELOW SELECTED THE ALTERNATE JUROR CONTRARY TO §972.10(7), Wis. Stats., EFFECTIVELY GIVING THE STATE ONE MORE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE THAN MR. GONZALEZ RECEIVED.

A. Introduction

To narrow the issue, it may be helpful to note what this case is not about.

It is not about a circuit court's failure to allow the accused the statutorily required number of peremptory strikes before trial. *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis.2d 758, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). Nor is it about an accused forced to expend a peremptory challenge to correct a circuit court's failure to excuse a juror for cause. *State v. Lindell*, 2001 WI 68, 245 Wis.2d 689, 629 N.W.2d 223. Neither is it about allowing prosecutors discriminatory peremptory challenges. *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

What this issue is about is effectively giving the State one more peremptory challenge than the accused by adopting a procedure for selecting the alternate contrary to statute.

B. Standard of Review

Issues of statutory interpretation are reviewed *de novo*, *State v. Hansen*, 2001 WI 53, ¶9, 243 Wis.2d 328, 627 N.W.2d 195, as are Due Process issues. *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶9, 291 Wis.2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

C. Additional Facts

During jury *voir dire*, neither the court nor the attorneys asked the jurors if any of them had been convicted of a crime. The court did ask if any juror had been charged with a crime involving "taking somebody's life, attempting to take somebody's life or shooting at anybody with a gun?" (65:23). After the jury was selected and sworn, juror 24 went to the bailiff and revealed he had been convicted of a crime. (66:5-6)(70:50-51) Instead of reopening jury selection, the Court, with the acquiescence of the parties, decided to wait until after the evidence was closed to deal with this problem. *Id.*

After the evidence was closed, the Court suggested either juror no. 9, who had been nodding off, or the convicted juror 24 be designated the alternate and heard argument from the parties. (70:50-58). Defense counsel opposed the State's motion to designate juror 24 as the alternate and argued for juror 9. (70:54-55). Then the Court designated the convicted juror as the alternate. (70:56-58). As the court itself pointed out, this was the same as giving the State an additional peremptory challenge. (70:57 [line 17-57]).

The court denied the postconviction motion arguing Due Process error. (46)(52).

D. Discussion

The peremptory challenge "has its roots in [our] ancient common law heritage," *Swain v. Alabama*, 380 U.S. 202, 217, 85 S.Ct. 824 (1965), a fixture of jury trial in England since at least 1305. *Id.* at 213 (citing statute). Due to the "long and widely held belief that peremptory challenge is a necessary part of trial by jury," *id.* at 219, nearly every American state gives peremptories "by statute to both sides in both civil and

criminal cases . . ." Id. at 217.

So it is the highest Court has repeatedly declared the peremptory challenge "is 'one of the most important of the rights secured to the accused." *Id.* at 219 (citation omitted). And see *State v. Gesch*, 167 Wis.2d 660, 671, 482 N.W.2d 99 (1992)(same).

While the highest Court has yet to declare the peremptory challenge a constitutional right, *Ross v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 81, 108 S.Ct. 2273 (1988), it has made clear basic Due Process is denied "if the defendant does not receive that which state law provides." 487 U.S. at 89. *Cf. Griffin v. Illinois*, 351 U.S. 12, 18, 76 S.Ct. 585 (1956)(though there is no constitutional right to appeal, where state grants right by statute, Due Process requires the right to be fairly administered).

The key legal principle of fair administration of peremptory challenges in Wisconsin is equality. The statutes provide "each side" the same number of challenges. §972.03, *Wis. Stats.* See *State v. Mendoza*, 227 Wis.2d 838, 860, ¶53, 596 N.W.2d 736 (1999)("We agree with the court of appeals on the importance of maintaining an equal number of peremptory strikes in two-party cases.").

Equality is required to satisfy Due Process as well. "[T]he relative rights of the prosecution and the accused [as to peremptories] must be at least equal." *U.S. v. Harbin*, 250 F.3d 532, 541 (7th Cir.2001)(where prosecution allowed to use peremptory to eliminate juror on 6th day of eight day trial, Due Process violated and conviction reversed). Because "[p]eremptory challenges are a significant means of achieving an impartial jury, . . .the 'balance' struck to achieve an impartial jury and a fair trial is one of equivalent rights . . ." *Id*.

Here, after the evidence was closed, the prosecutor was allowed to move the court to designate juror 24, who had told the bailiff after jury selection he had been convicted of crimes (66:5-6)(70:50-51), as the alternate. (70:53). The prosecutor stated his reason was, had he known of the convictions during jury selection, the State would have stricken him. (70:53)

[lines 18-24]). The court granted the State's motion, saying, "And had [juror 24] raised [his convictions] at that point, I think the State would have the benefit of its peremptory strike. So I'm going to allow the State to exercise that strike now . . ." (70:57 [lines 16-20). The court then designated juror 24 as the alternate, understanding it was effectively giving the State another peremptory challenge.

Since this procedure violated both §972.10(7), Wis. Stats., requiring selection of the alternate by lot, and §972.03, Wis. Stats., requiring an equal number of challenges for "each side," Mr. Gonzalez did "not receive that which state law provides," Ross, supra, 487 U.S. at 89, and basic Due Process was violated. As in Harbin, supra, granting the State an extra challenge at the end of the trial "destroy[ed] the balance [of advantages] needed for a fair trial," 250 F.3d at 540, because it "skewed the jury selection process in favor of the prosecution, and adversely impacted the ability of the peremptory challenge process as a means of ensuring an impartial jury and a fair trial." Id. at 541.

The *Harbin* court reversed without consideration of prejudice because "such an error affects the fundamental fairness of the trial . . .," *id.* at 547, by "calling into question the impartiality of the jury because it cripples the device designed to ensure an impartial jury by giving each party an opportunity to weed out the extremes of partiality." *Id.* at 548. Counsel submits there was the same fundamental unfairness here when the State had more challenges than Mr. Gonzalez, creating an impermissible "shift in the total balance of advantages in favor of the prosecution . . ." *Id.* at 547.

But even if reversal depends on harmless error rules, counsel submits the State cannot meet its burden under *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis.2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) "to establish that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." This is because the error "here is precisely the type of error that defies harmless error analysis." 250 F.3d at 545. "[I]t is impossible to determine what impact [the illegal granting of an extra peremptory to the State] had on the jury's ultimate decision," and so the possibility the error contributed to the verdict cannot be ruled out.

Counsel respectfully submits reversal and remand is justified on this ground.

II. THE COURT BELOW ILLEGALLY PERMITTED THE JURY TO TAKE NOTES DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT TO MR. GONZALEZ PREJUDICE.

A. Additional Facts

In its closing instructions, the court below told the jurors they would be allowed to take notes during closing argument. (70:9-10). Defense counsel objected (70:48) and the State, noting the statute being violated, stated it would have objected had it known the court was going to allow such notes. (70:49-50).

B. Standard of Review

Issues of statutory interpretation are reviewed *de novo*, *State v. Hansen*, 2001 WI 53, ¶9, 243 Wis.2d 328, 627 N.W.2d 195.

C. Discussion

The governing statute grants the court the discretion to allow jurors to take notes during trial "except the opening statements and closing arguments." §972.10(1)(a)1., *Wis. Stats.* Despite this, the court below unabashedly told the jurors it had the discretion to ignore this statutory exception. (70:9-10). But no court has the power to rewrite a statute's plain language. *State v. Steffes*, 2013 WI 53, ¶21, 347 Wis.2d 683, 832 N.W.2d 101. Therefore, the court's decision to allow jurors to take notes during closing arguments was clearly erroneous.

The error was not harmless for the reasons trial counsel expressed (70:48) which counsel now explains further.

There could be no legal problem with allowing jurors to take notes on the evidence since it is their job to decide the facts. But if jurors take notes on the closings, which are not evidence, there are at least 3 potential dangers one or more jurors will 1) confuse their notes on argument with their notes

on evidence; 2) take better notes on arguments than on evidence and so be better able to remember arguments rather than evidence and 3) give equal or more weight to their notes on the arguments than the notes on the evidence. That is to say, one or more juror's notes on the State's arguments may influence that juror to decide the facts in a way it might otherwise have not. Counsel submits this may be the very reason the legislature chose to make this exception. (Counsel's research discloses no legislative history which could shed light on the intent behind the exception.). As there is no way to know how notes of arguments were used by the jurors, the possibility they were used improperly cannot be ruled out and the State cannot meet its burden on this issue "to establish that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." *Dyess*, *supra*, *id*.

Conclusion

Counsel respectfully submits the foregoing demonstrates prejudicial error and prays the Court for reversal and remand of the judgment below.