# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-18-2015

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP784-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JESUS C. GONZALEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RICHARD J. SANKOVITZ, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHMIEL Attorney General

ROBERT G. PROBST Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1063075

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

. . . .

In Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 88, 108 S.Ct. 2273, 101 L.Ed.2d 80 (1988), the Supreme Court described peremptory challenges as "a means to achieve the end of an impartial jury." Because peremptory challenges are a creature of statute and are not required by the Constitution, it is for the State to determine the number of peremptory challenges allowed and to define their purpose and the manner of their exercise. Id. at 89, 108 S.Ct. 2273.

Mendoza, 227 Wis. 2d at 857-59 (emphasis added), see also Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 88 (1988) ("... we reject the notion that the loss of a peremptory challenge constitutes a violation of the constitutional right to an impartial jury. We have long recognized that peremptory challenges are not of constitutional dimension. They are a means to achieve the end of an impartial jury. So long as the jury that sits is impartial, the fact that the defendant had to use a peremptory challenge to achieve that result does not mean the Sixth Amendment was violated.") Id.

Third, this court's decision in *State v. Gonzalez*, 2008 WI App 142, 314 Wis. 2d 129, 758 N.W.2d, along with the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *Mendoza*, also lend credence to the circuit court's approach in dealing with an issue that only arose after a jury panel had been picked.

In *Gonzalez*, on the third day of trial, a juror informed the circuit court that she recognized one of the State's witnesses who had not been on the witness list. *Gonzalez*, 314 Wis. 2d 129, ¶ 4. Concerned that the juror might not be impartial after a colloquy, the circuit court designated the

juror as an alternate before ultimately dismissing her. Id.,  $\P$  6.

This court affirmed the judgment of conviction and found that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in designating the juror as an alternate and ultimately removing her:

The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it designated Juror Molenda as an alternate based on its concern regarding her potential impartiality. The trial court has a duty to ensure that the impaneled jury is an impartial one; one that is free of bias or prejudice. *See State v. Williams*, 2000 WI App 123, ¶ 19, 237 Wis. 2d 591, 614 N.W.2d 11 ("[T]he trial court ultimately bears the responsibility for ensuring that a fair and impartial jury is impaneled.").

Wisconsin Stat. § 805.08(1) pertains to the juror selection process and provides: The court shall examine on oath each person who is called as a juror to discover whether the juror is related by blood, marriage or adoption to any party or to any attorney appearing in the case, or has any financial interest in the case, or has expressed or formed any opinion, or is aware of any bias or prejudice in the case. If a juror is not indifferent in the case, the juror shall be excused.

Both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution contain provisions guaranteeing an impartial jury trial for criminal defendants. The discretionary steps that the trial court took to ensure that the court's duty to impanel an impartial jury were appropriate and within the limits of the trial court's discretion. The procedure followed, in designating Juror Molenda as an alternate, was appropriate as well.

Gonzalez, 314 Wis. 2d 129,  $\P$  21-22 (footnotes omitted).

Though the circuit court in *Gonzalez* ultimately discharged Juror Molenda for cause, this court specifically saw no issue with designating her as the alternate before

doing so, as long as an impartial jury was convened. Here, Gonzalez got exactly that: a jury of twelve impartial jurors to consider his guilt or innocence. The designation of a thirteenth juror as an alternate does not alter this truth. Cf. Gonzalez, 314 Wis. 2d 129, ¶ 15 ("When the trial court finally dismissed Juror Molenda, there was still a full panel of twelve jurors who had heard all of the evidence and whose impartiality was not in question."). Indeed, before the selection of the twelve jurors who would be deliberating, the circuit court repeatedly instructed the jury not to discuss the case until after closing was completed (69:69, 70:47). Outside the presence of the jury, the circuit court also specifically instructed Juror #24, now the alternate, to not discuss the case with the jury as he was gathering his things before departing (70:88). Jurors are presumed to follow the instructions they are given. State v. Gary M.B., 2004 WI 33, ¶ 33, 270 Wis. 2d 62, 676 N.W.2d 475.

Even if that designation was error, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has concluded that the erroneous discharge or removal of a juror from the panel is not error requiring reversal so long as a jury of twelve impartial jurors decided the defendant's guilt or innocence:

In this case, the court's error affected two competing interests: Mendoza's right to an equal number of strikes and the circuit court's important discretionary power to strike jurors to avoid the appearance of bias. In the long run, a court's discretionary power to remove questionable jurors and avoid the appearance of bias outweighs the

right of parties to an equal number of strikes. Over time the court's discretionary power is likely to accomplish more to attain impartial juries than the exercise of peremptories.

The United States Supreme Court has concluded that not every error, even constitutional error, requires automatic reversal of a conviction. See Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). The Supreme Court also has recognized that an erroneous dismissal of a prospective juror does not automatically require reversal if an impartial jury was impaneled. In Northern Pacific R. Co. v. Herbert, 116 U.S. 642, 646, 6 S.Ct. 590, 29 L.Ed. 755 (1886), the Supreme Court stated: [The prospective juror] was . . . challenged, and the allowance of the challenge constitutes the first error assigned. . . . [I]f we regard the challenge as for cause, its allowance did not prejudice the company. A competent and unbiased juror was selected and sworn, and the company had, therefore, a trial by an impartial jury, which was all it could demand.

Several federal courts and numerous state courts have recognized the principle enunciated in *Northern Pacific*, and applied it in the criminal arena.

A defendant is entitled to fair and impartial jurors, not jurors whom he hopes will be favorable towards his position. See Pollack v. State, 215 Wis. 200, 207–08, 253 N.W. 560 (1934), overruled in part by State ex rel. Goodchild v. Burke, 27 Wis.2d 244, 133 N.W.2d 753 (1965). A defendant's rights go to those who serve, not to those who are excused.

We therefore hold that automatic reversal is not required when a circuit court erroneously grants a party's motion to strike a prospective juror for cause. To hold otherwise would undermine our long-standing assertion that circuit court judges should liberally grant requests to strike prospective jurors for cause.

We stated in *Ferron* that "[t]he circuit courts are ... advised to err on the side of striking prospective jurors who appear to be biased, even if the appellate court would not reverse their determinations of impartiality. Such action will avoid the appearance of bias, and may save judicial time and resources in the long run." *Ferron*,

219 Wis. 2d at 503, 579 N.W.2d 654. This continues to be sound policy.

Mendoza, 227 Wis. 2d at 862-64, (footnote omitted) (emphasis added), see also Gonzalez, 314 Wis. 2d 129, ¶ 9 ("A criminal defendant is entitled to a jury which will insure him a fair and impartial trial, but not to an unlimited choice in an attempt to secure a jury which will acquit him.") (citation omitted).

The circuit court recognized this reality in its decision denying postconviction relief:

But the State's invocation of Mendoza is prescient nevertheless, because Mendoza also teaches that even if the circuit court errs in discharging a juror for cause, a new trial is not required if the jurors who convicted the defendant were impartial. Id. At 864, ¶ 65. As the Mendoza court put it, "A defendant's rights go to those who serve not to those who are excused." Id. at 863, ¶ 62.

In other words, for Mr. Gonzalez to win a new trial on the ground that there was insufficient cause to discharge [Juror #24], Mr. Gonzalez must [have] demonstrated that one of more of the other twelve jurors were less than impartial. He does not. Therefore, the verdict convicting him must be upheld and his motion for a new trial must be denied.

(52:5-6.)

Notably, either on appeal or before the circuit court, Gonzalez makes no claim regarding the fairness or impartiality of the jury of twelve that served at his trial. Ultimately, that is the central inquiry into whether or not Gonzalez requires a new trial because the right to a fair and

impartial jury is guaranteed in both the United States Constitution and our state constitution:

Under the United States constitution a criminal defendant in a state court is guaranteed an impartial jury by the Sixth Amendment as applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. Principles of due process also guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial jurors. In Wisconsin a defendant is entitled to a trial by an impartial jury as a matter of state constitutional law under sec. 7, art. I, of the Wisconsin Constitution.

State v. Lehman, 108 Wis. 2d 291, 297 n.3, 321 N.W.2d 212 (1982) (citation omitted). The circuit court has a duty and responsibility to guarantee that the right to a fair and impartial jury is secured in its courtroom. State v. Williams, 2000 WI App 123, ¶ 19, 237 Wis. 2d 591, 614 N.W.2d 11

Fourth, any error in the circuit court's selection of an alternate did not prejudice Gonzalez in any way because an impartial jury of twelve, having considered significant evidence of Gonzalez's guilt, rendered his guilty verdict. Any error was therefore harmless. See Mendoza, 227 Wis. 2d at 864 ("Wisconsin Stat. § 805.18 provides that an error is harmless if it does not effect the substantial rights of the party seeking reversal of the judgment. Section 805.18 is applicable to criminal cases pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1). State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 547, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985)."); Cf. Delgado, 223 Wis. 2d 270, 280, 588 N.W.2d 1 ("We have repeatedly stated that this court is reluctant to grant new trials.") (citations omitted).

The State's theory of the case was that Gonzalez shot J.C. after encountering him in the street and shot D.J. through the passenger side of his car as D.J. attempted to drive away (2:2-4; 66:110, 118; 67:13-17, 27). J.C. survived a bullet to the neck but is paralyzed and D.J. was pronounced dead upon arrival at Froedtert Hospital (2:2, 6; 67:86). Gonzalez's only defense was that J.C. and D.J. attacked him (see e.g. 66:14) and that he was defending himself. Gonzalez elected not to testify (69:48-49), but the jury heard the 911 call that Gonzalez made on the night of the shootings (67:61).

However, that defense went against a weight of evidence that provided a strong basis upon which to find Gonzalez guilty of both crimes.

There was live testimony at trial by the surviving<sup>3</sup> victim, J.C., who testified unequivocally that he and D.J. did not attack or even seek out Gonzalez and that neither he nor D.J. were armed (67:82-90). There was further testimony by officers who discovered J.C. and D.J. and confirmed that neither had any weapon on them (67:47, 81). Further, Officer Efrain Cornejo, who arrived on scene following the shooting and tended to J.C., corroborated that testimony, testifying without contradiction that J.C. told him that a Hispanic male had shot him that night (66:22, 67:10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Officers testified that J.C. was largely unresponsive when they contacted him and that he did not say who shot him (66:25-27).

Officer Willie Williams, who responded to Gonzalez's 911 call, testified that he noticed a firearm on some boxes in Gonzalez's porch (66:34-35). That firearm was later determined to be the weapon that dispensed all seven shell casings found near the shootings (68:117).

Detective El Sarenac, who contacted Gonzalez on the night of the shooting, testified that Gonzalez had no injuries, no rips in his clothing, and no other indications that he had been attacked (67:22-25). Detective Sarenac also took nine pictures of Gonzalez that night, all of which were introduced into evidence and viewed by the jury (id). Further, Milwaukee County medical examiner Dr. Brian Peterson testified that he examined D.J.'s body and found no injuries, bruises, or lacerations of any kind; indeed "there was nothing" like that anywhere on the body (68:76-77). Sergeant Patrick Brousseau, who also contacted Gonzalez immediately after the shooting, similarly testified that Gonzalez's person showed no signs of being attacked (66:50).

The State later elicited testimony that the shooting actually took place in the opposite direction from Gonzalez's house from his car, such that "if you're coming out of the house, going to the car, you're walking *away* from the shooting scene[]" (67:43) (emphasis added). This is significant because Gonzalez claimed he went outside to move his car and encountered D.J. and J.C. (see e.g. 70:70).

Finally, firearm and toolmark examiner Mark Simonson testified that he examined the handgun taken from Gonzalez's porch, and that he concluded that it fired the seven recovered bullet casings came from Gonzalez's handgun (68:117, see also 69:38-39). There was also a stipulation between the parties that a box of 9 millimeter ammunition of the same caliber as found in the spent casings near the scene of the shootings was also found in Gonzalez's residence (69:42).

Given all of this evidence that showed that Gonzalez attacked D.J. and J.C. unprovoked, including uncontroverted testimony from J.C. as to that sequence of events, there is no reasonable doubt that Gonzalez was guilty of killing D.J. and permanently injuring J.C. Therefore, because an impartial jury of twelve heard substantial evidence showing Gonzalez's guilt, any error in designating Juror #24 as the alternate did not affect the substantial rights of the party seeking reversal of the judgment. *Mendoza*, 227 Wis. 2d at 864.

# III. The Circuit Court's Allowance of Note-Taking During Closing did not Prejudice or Harm Gonzalez.

Separately, Gonzalez argues that the circuit court's decision to allow note-taking during closing arguments was error and that such error was not harmless. Gonzalez's Brief at 8-9.

The State acknowledges that Wis. Stat. § 972.10(1) would appear to prohibit note-taking during closing arguments. *Id.* However, because the closing arguments

were merely recitation of the trial evidence and nothing substantive occurred, and because the circuit court repeatedly instructed the jury that arguments of the attorneys are not evidence, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The circuit court plainly instructed the jury several times regarding what did and did not constitute evidence during the course of trial. Jurors are presumed to follow the instructions they are given. Gary M.B., 270 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 33.

Regarding evidence, at the preliminary instructions, the circuit court instructed the jury:

The evidence in this case will consist of one or more of the following three things: First, the sworn testimony of the witnesses from the witness stand when they're on direct or cross-examination, regardless of who calls the witness. Plus any physical evidence that I may receive in the trial record, photographs, physical objects, reports, things like that. Plus any facts to which the parties agree.

. . . .

Consider carefully the arguments and the remarks of the attorneys that you'll hear first thing tomorrow morning and that you'll hear at the end of the trial, but remember this: What the attorneys say is not evidence. If the attorneys say something to you that isn't backed up by evidence, then disregard what they say and draw no inference or conclusion from it.

(65:103-104,106, see also 70:42, 46) (emphasis added.)

Further, the circuit court specifically instructed the jury how to use and not use its notes:

You were told during jury orientation that judges sometimes allow jurors to take notes during the trial to

help them remember what was said during the trial. Because our trial is a little bit longer and there's a few more witnesses than normal, I'm going to allow you to take notes. I want to give you a couple of instructions about how to make those notes helpful to you.

First of all, don't let the notes get in the way of you remembering what was said during the trial. So that means a couple of things. First of all, don't try to write everything down. We have a professional here. The professional is writing everything down for us. While we can't give you a transcript at the end of trial . . . if there's any dispute about a few things that a witness says, we can get some notes to try to get that precise for you. Try to remember what they say and use your notes as a way to remember the things that you wouldn't remember if you didn't write it down.

Secondly, if you find yourself using your notepads in a way that distracts you, you should probably put the notes aside. So sometimes we give jurors notepads and pencils and they find themselves doodling or making todo lists or making grocery lists or the like. If you find yourself doing that, the notes are probably distracting you and you should put them to one side.

The other thing to remember about the notes is that they're yours and yours alone. They're confidential. You shouldn't show them to your fellow jurors during the trial just like you shouldn't discuss the case with them. And even in deliberations, there's really no need to share them unless the jurors can't remember what happened. When it's time to show the jurors your notes, feel free to do that. If there's a disagreement among jurors about what happened, you should go with what you all remember. And if the notes help you, great. If they get in the way, put them aside. Your memory comes first and then the notes.

#### (65:106-108.)

Thus, the circuit court carefully and specifically described what individual jurors should do with their notes, and also cautioned them to avoid using the notes in any way that would interfere with their ability to follow the trial.

Given those instructions, and that jurors are presumed to follow instructions as given, it is difficult to see how any of the three scenarios (jurors confusing notes on argument with notes on evidence, jurors taking better notes during arguments than during evidence, jurors giving more or equal weight to notes on closing over notes on evidence) envisioned by Gonzalez could possibly come into play. *See* Gonzalez's Brief at 8-9.

When the circuit court permitted the jury to take notes during closing arguments, it reiterated:

During this process I'm allowing you to take notes. There's a state statute which says that jurors are not allowed to take notes during the closing argument. Most judges believe that the state statute is one that gives us some discretion. We believe that it's a good exercise of our discretion for jurors to be able to take notes during the closing arguments so in their notes they can link ideas together based on what they hear from attorneys.

But, I will remind you of what I had said to you previously. The notes are there to help you remember what has been said here, but they are not a substitute for what happened here. So make sure as you take notes you listen carefully so you can remember what you've heard and only rely on the notes as a fallback.

# (70:9-10) (emphasis added.)

Indeed, later when Gonzalez's trial counsel objected to the allowance of note taking during closing arguments, the circuit court reasoned:

Your arguments are important to [the jury] and you are helping them make sense of all of this, and you want them to remember what you said. In this day and age, people write down things to remember. That's what we do in classrooms. That's what we do at work. You, both, during the trial I saw you taking notes undoubtedly to help you remember things, and that's a professional thing to do. That's something we admire in people who are doing their work, not something to distract from their work.

By all means I'm going to let them take notes to make sure they encapture (sic) what they need to from your arguments to make sense of the evidence.

(70:49.)

#### Harmless Error

In any event, in addition to the circuit court's instructions, the evidence adduced at trial (before closing arguments) was considerable and largely undisputed. Thus, any statutory error was harmless. *See Mendoza*, 227 Wis. 2d at 864, *Cf. Delgado*, 223 Wis. 2d at 280 ("We have repeatedly stated that this court is reluctant to grant new trials.") (citations omitted).

As set forth above in Section II, the State's theory of the case was that Gonzalez shot J.C. after encountering him in the street, and shot D.J. through the passenger side of his car as he attempted to escape (2:2-4; 66:110, 118; 67:13-17, 27). However, that defense went against a weight of evidence that cut against Gonzalez's self-defense claim and provides a strong basis upon which to find Gonzalez guilty of both crimes. Because there was substantial evidence adduced at trial prior to closing arguments, none of which Gonzalez disputes on appeal, the allowance of note-taking during closing arguments "does not effect (sic) the substantial rights

of the party seeking reversal of the judgment." *Mendoza*, 227 Wis. 2d at 864.

The closing arguments here were nothing more than restatements and arguments based on evidence elicited at trial (see 70:60-68, 78-85). The State discussed the evidence elicited, commented on it, and argued for a conclusion that Gonzalez's self-defense theory did not fit with any of the physical evidence or testimony given (70:63, 66-68). The defense argued that the evidence was inconclusive and that the 911 tape shows that Gonzalez really acted in self-defense, noting that he did not run from officers and was cooperative in their interaction (70:74-77).

A full review of the parties' closing arguments shows nothing new or significant other than what had been said in opening arguments. The parties introduced no new theories, concepts, or evidence other than what was already adduced at trial. Because of that, the substantial evidence of Gonzalez's guilt, and the circuit court's cautionary instructions to the jurors to not misuse their notes, any statutory error that Gonzalez suffered was harmless.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this court should affirm Gonzalez's judgment of conviction and the order denying his motion for postconviction relief.